A ANNUAL REVIEWS

Annual Review of Psychology

Multisensory Integration as a Window into Orderly and Disrupted Cognition and Communication

Mark T. Wallace,^{1,2,3,4,5} Tiffany G. Woynaroski,^{1,4,5} and Ryan A. Stevenson^{6,7}

¹Department of Hearing and Speech Sciences, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, Nashville, Tennessee 37232, USA; email: mark.wallace@vanderbilt.edu, tiffany.g.woynaroski@vumc.org

²Departments of Psychology and Pharmacology, Vanderbilt University, Nashville, Tennessee 37232, USA

³Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, Nashville, Tennessee 37232, USA

⁴Vanderbilt Brain Institute, Vanderbilt University, Nashville, Tennessee 37232, USA

⁵Vanderbilt Kennedy Center, Nashville, Tennessee 37203, USA

⁶Departments of Psychology and Psychiatry and Program in Neuroscience, University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario N6A 3K7, Canada; email: rsteve28@uwo.ca

⁷Brain and Mind Institute, University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario N6A 3K7, Canada

Annu. Rev. Psychol. 2020. 71:193-219

First published as a Review in Advance on September 13, 2019

The Annual Review of Psychology is online at psych.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010419-051112

Copyright © 2020 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

ANNUAL CONNECT

- www.annualreviews.org
- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

Keywords

review, sensory, multisensory, development, cognition, language

Abstract

During our everyday lives, we are confronted with a vast amount of information from several sensory modalities. This multisensory information needs to be appropriately integrated for us to effectively engage with and learn from our world. Research carried out over the last half century has provided new insights into the way such multisensory processing improves human performance and perception; the neurophysiological foundations of multisensory function; the time course for its development; how multisensory abilities differ in clinical populations; and, most recently, the links between multisensory processing and cognitive abilities. This review summarizes the extant literature on multisensory function in typical and atypical circumstances, discusses the implications of the work carried out to date for theory and research, and points toward next steps for advancing the field.

Contents

INTRODUCTION TO MULTISENSORY INTEGRATION	194
MULTISENSORY DEVELOPMENT IN ANIMAL MODELS	195
MULTISENSORY DEVELOPMENT IN HUMANS	196
MULTISENSORY INTEGRATION SCAFFOLDS TO COGNITION	
AND OTHER HIGHER-ORDER SKILLS	197
ALTERED MULTISENSORY FUNCTION IN CLINICAL CONDITIONS:	
LINKS TO COGNITION AND BROADER SYMPTOMATOLOGY	198
Autism Spectrum Disorder	198
Dyslexia	201
Other Neurodevelopmental Disorders	202
NEUROPSYCHIATRIC CONDITIONS	203
Alterations in Multisensory Function and Links to Schizophrenia	203
Multisensory Integration in Healthy and Pathological Aging	
and Links to Cognition	204
SENSORY LOSS AND CROSS-MODAL PLASTICITY	205
Vision Loss, Cross-Modal Plasticity, and Impact on Cognition	205
Hearing Loss, Cochlear Implants, and Multisensory Abilities	206
CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	208

INTRODUCTION TO MULTISENSORY INTEGRATION

In our natural environment, we are confronted with a vast amount of sensory information. These sensory inputs originate from numerous external sources, propagate via various forms of energy, and are processed through multiple sensory systems. Despite the complexity of these information streams, the healthy brain can determine which bits of sensory information coded by different sensory systems originated from a single external source and merge this information into a single unified percept. At the same time, the healthy brain can accurately dissociate sensory information originating from disparate sources and events and appropriately segregate it into discrete percepts. As an example, you can successfully integrate your partner's auditory voice and visual facial articulations while in a noisy bar, and you can successfully refrain from integrating his or her voice with other faces in your field of view. The integration of redundant and complementary information from the different senses affords numerous perceptual and behavioral benefits. This sensory synthesis, known collectively as multisensory integration, has been reliably shown to increase perceptual accuracy and speed of response as well as increase rates of detection and discrimination (for a review, see Murray & Wallace 2011). Thus, in the example above, you not only integrate your partner's voice and facial articulations but also gain a striking increase in speech perception in doing so.

To achieve this integration, the human nervous system relies on two distinct types of information, which can roughly be referred to as more low-level influences (i.e., the physical characteristics of the incoming sensory signals) and more high-level, learned associations (Collignon et al. 2013). The primary physical stimulus characteristics that influence multisensory integration are the spatial alignment and temporal coincidence of the paired inputs and the intensity or effectiveness of the signals (Stein & Meredith 1993). In brief, the more spatially aligned and temporally coincident two stimuli are, the more likely they will be integrated and perceptually bound into a single, fused percept. Also, the less effective the unisensory components of a multisensory pairing are, the greater the multisensory benefit, a principle known as inverse effectiveness (Meredith & Stein 1986). These spatial, temporal, and inverse effectiveness factors interact with one another at both the behavioral (e.g., Fister et al. 2016, Nidiffer et al. 2016) and neural levels (e.g., Cappe et al. 2012, Royal et al. 2009).

MULTISENSORY DEVELOPMENT IN ANIMAL MODELS

A good deal of work has been done in mammalian models to characterize basic maturational features as they relate to multisensory circuits and their functional organization. A key finding across both precocial and altricial species is a developmental chronology in which the neural representations for the individual senses appear and begin to mature prior to the emergence of multisensory representations. One of the best-studied examples of this sequence is seen in the cat, in which tactile responses are seen in somatosensory brain regions including the thalamus, superior colliculus, and somatosensory cortex at birth (Wallace & Stein 1997). Auditory responses begin to appear sometime during the first 1–2 weeks of postnatal life, and visual responses are further delayed by several weeks. The appearance and development of these unisensory (i.e., responsive to a single sensory modality) representations is then followed by the appearance of the first multisensory (i.e., responsive to two or more modalities) neurons, which continue to grow in incidence as the animal matures, reaching adult values near the beginning of sexual maturity (Wallace & Stein 1997). In more precocial species such as monkeys, although somatosensory, auditory, and visual responses are present at birth, the maturational chronology of these three sensory systems follows a similar course (Wallace & Stein 2001). In mammals, this sequence makes a great deal of ecological sense, as touch is critical in the newborn who stays in close proximity to the mother. As the behavioral repertoire increases and the animal begins to explore at a distance, the more exteroreceptive senses (audition and vision) begin to mature.

Although early multisensory neurons have the ability to respond to stimuli from two or more senses, they are strikingly different from such neurons in the adult, in that they lack the ability to integrate these different inputs (Wallace & Stein 1997, 2001). Such multisensory integration is characterized by neural responses that differ significantly from those of the individual senses and that often differ greatly from a simple summation of the unisensory responses (Stein & Meredith 1993). As development progresses, an increasing allotment of neurons gain this integrative capacity, thus allowing them to dramatically transform the inputs they are receiving. The appearance of these integrative abilities seems closely yoked to the maturation of receptive field properties of these neurons. For example, early multisensory neurons (much like their unisensory correlates) have very large receptive fields, and only upon the consolidation of these receptive fields do these neurons begin to exhibit integrative abilities (Wallace & Stein 1997).

Somewhat surprisingly, our knowledge regarding the development of the neurophysiological operations of these neurons has far outstripped our knowledge regarding the maturation of the behaviors dependent upon multisensory function. For example, little evidence has been gathered to date in developing animals as to when simple multisensory-mediated behaviors such as the facilitation (i.e., speeding) of reaction times first appear and how these gains in behavioral performance relate to the development of multisensory neural circuits. Future work should seek to study these brain-behavior relationships in developing animal models. Furthermore, although a host of animal models of various human neurologic and psychiatric disease and disorders exist (and, as described in later sections, these disorders frequently are accompanied by sensory and multisensory processing differences), very little work has yet been done to characterize (multi)sensory function

TBW: temporal binding window

in these animal models of human disease. One exciting and notable exception to this has come in a mouse model of autism with disrupted serotonergic signaling due to a mutation in the serotonin transporter (a mutation derived from humans with autism). Using a paradigm developed to assess multisensory performance in rodent models (Siemann et al. 2015), Siemann et al. (2017) found that these mutant animals failed to derive the same degree of benefit from the presence of combined visual-auditory information as wild-type animals. Such work lays the foundation for future studies focused on characterizing alterations in multisensory function in these models of human disorders (and exploring how these changes in multisensory function relate to other characteristics of the disorders).

We argue that knowledge of the basic principles of sensory and multisensory development is critical information for enriching our understanding of cognitive development in health and disease, as (multi)sensory representations are a key developmental scaffold upon which higherorder representations are formed and refined (Murray et al. 2016). Although many of the ensuing sections focus on the relationship between multisensory and cognitive abilities in adults, several allude to how changes in sensory development (such as those precipitated by sensory loss) result in altered cognitive abilities and representations. A compelling future research direction would be to relate the development of sensory and multisensory abilities to the maturation of cognitive functions (in both humans and animal models), in the hopes of better understanding how (multi)sensory development undergirds cognitive development.

MULTISENSORY DEVELOPMENT IN HUMANS

Much like for animal models, work carried out to date in humans has shown that the ability to integrate across the senses, as well as the underlying factors influencing multisensory integration, changes dramatically across development. One clear example of this is in the perception of multisensory temporal relations. Although infants as young as four months of age are able to discriminate between synchronous and asynchronous multisensory stimuli (i.e., paired visual and auditory stimuli that are synchronous or not), they can do so only for large temporal offsets (e.g., Lewkowicz 1996). Throughout childhood and into adolescence, this multisensory temporal acuity improves, with the window of temporal offsets within which an individual perceives two sensory inputs as synchronous [commonly known as the temporal binding window (TBW)] (Dixon & Spitz 1980, Vroomen & Keetels 2010) progressively narrowing (e.g., Hillock-Dunn & Wallace 2012, Kéïta et al. 2011).

Within the same developmental time frame, the strength of integration across the senses also increases. This has been classically observed within a paradigm known as the McGurk effect (McGurk & MacDonald 1976). In a McGurk task, participants are presented with an auditory utterance such as ba and a discordant visual articulation such as ga. When asked to report their perception, participants commonly report a novel percept such as da or tha. This fused percept is seen as a proxy measure for multisensory integration. Rates of such perceptual fusion have been widely shown to increase with age (e.g., McGurk & MacDonald 1976).

It has been proposed that the changes in how children perceive the physical properties of stimuli across development are inextricably and causally linked to increased rates of multisensory integration. For example, the intersensory redundancy hypothesis suggests that early in life, physical stimulus attributes of the same objects that are shared across modalities, such as temporal and spatial characteristics, as well as stimulus intensity, provide redundant information that facilitates a child's ability to perceptually differentiate co-occurring sensory events (Bahrick & Lickliter 2000). This in turn leads to increased multisensory integration. Indeed, even in adulthood, the precision of an individual's multisensory temporal perception is strongly related to his or her ability to perceive the McGurk effect—the more precise one's ability to accurately discriminate between synchronous and asynchronous presentations, the stronger his or her perception of the McGurk effect (Stevenson et al. 2012).

Although multisensory illusions such as the McGurk effect provide useful empirical measures of the development of multisensory integration, the perceptual and behavioral benefits associated with the maturation of multisensory integration have also been shown to increase across development. One of the best examples of this is that the benefit (i.e., gain in speech perception) associated with seeing a speaker's face in addition to hearing his or her auditory speech increases across development and does so preferentially under noisy conditions (Ross et al. 2011).

One important transition in the development of multisensory integration is a shift from an early reliance on low-level (i.e., stimulus statistics) factors to a much heavier weighting of higherorder experiential factors (Collignon et al. 2013). The impact of these later-developing learned associations can be seen specifically in multisensory temporal acuity, where adults display a wider TBW for semantically congruent stimulus pairings (relative to incongruent pairings). That is, the system binds semantically congruent information even when the physical stimulus characteristics are quite asynchronous (Ten Oever et al. 2013).

MULTISENSORY INTEGRATION SCAFFOLDS TO COGNITION AND OTHER HIGHER-ORDER SKILLS

Based on findings from seminal work in animal models and research into early development, it has been proposed that multisensory processing provides a strong foundation for the development of perceptual representations and facilitates the acquisition of higher-order cognitive functions (e.g., Bahrick & Lickliter 2002, Bremner et al. 2012a). This theory is intuitively appealing, given the precedence of sensory development relative to the emergence of cognitive, social, and linguistic skills. As previously discussed, it is well established that sensory systems appear prenatally and that rudimentary multisensory processes are evident early in postnatal life (albeit with a protracted developmental trajectory), well in advance of higher-level cognitive and communicative processes (e.g., Bremner et al. 2012b). As highlighted earlier, the initial development of sensory and multisensory systems relies heavily on low-level statistical stimulus features (Murray et al. 2016). This developmental model, which posits a rather pivotal role for sensory processes, in particular early in life, is compatible with several existing psychological theories of cognitive development, including embodied cognition, the extended mind thesis, and enactivism (Clark & Chalmers 1998, Thompson 2005, Varela et al. 1991).

The aforementioned framework finds empirical support from a large and ever-growing literature exploring links between multisensory function and cognition across species, from animal embryos and neonates to human infants, children, and adults. Preliminary support for a formative role for the maturation of multisensory processing in the development of more complex functions came from work carried out in bobwhite quail, a species sensitive to intersensory redundancy during the prenatal and precocial periods (Lickliter & Banker 1994). Quail embryos exhibited enhanced learning and memory for a mother's call when prenatally exposed to synchronous multisensory (i.e., mother's song presented in conjunction with a temporally aligned patterned light stimulus) but not asynchronous or unisensory (i.e., mother's vocalization alone) information (Lickliter et al. 2002, 2004). Subsequent work has shown that facilitative effects are achieved even with only a brief exposure to a multisensory stimulus synchronized with the onset of the mother's call (Jaime et al. 2010) and has suggested that exposure to such multisensory stimulation may actually prepare or entrain the offspring to relevant unisensory information, for example, facilitating the quail chick's subsequent recognition of the mother's call in isolation (Lickliter et al. 2006). ASD: autism spectrum disorder

DLD: developmental language disorder

Analogous results have been obtained in translational research carried out in human infants. Early linguistic development serves as an illustrative example. Language learning is a complex process that requires an infant to efficiently process and parse an incoming speech stream into distinct word forms and morphosyntactic structures, ascertain the meaning of each of these linguistic units, and over time learn how to reproduce them in a generative manner. As highlighted earlier, the incoming speech stream comprises not only dynamic auditory information but also complementary visual information from the moving mouth that boosts the efficiency of speech processing and supports word and broader language learning across the life span (e.g., Chandrasekaran et al. 2009, Massaro 1998).

Past research has shown that typically developing children attend to and integrate the visual cues that correspond with auditory speech very early in postnatal life (e.g., Lewkowicz & Hansen-Tift 2012, Patterson & Werker 2003). Typically developing infants and toddlers, for example, tend to look to the mouth—the source of linguistic multisensory redundancy—during pivotal periods in early language learning, such as when they are latching onto their native language and when they are experiencing an acceleration or burst in word learning (de Boisferon et al. 2018, Lewkowicz & Hansen-Tift 2012). The extent to which they do so has been linked with their early speech perception, prelinguistic vocal development, and broader spoken language learning (e.g., Bahrick et al. 2018, Teinonen et al. 2008, Tenenbaum et al. 2015).

Beyond this example of language acquisition, which plays an instrumental role in bootstrapping the development of various cognitive abilities, the maturation of multisensory processing has been linked with a host of other discrete perceptual and cognitive abilities, from selective attention and memory to tempo and numerical discrimination to associative learning, sequence detection, abstract rule learning, and face and affect discrimination, as well as more generalized cognitive development (Bahrick et al. 2002, 2018; Flom & Bahrick 2007, 2010; Frank et al. 2009; Gogate & Bahrick 1998; Jordan et al. 2008; Lewkowicz 2004). Thus, findings from research carried out over the course of several decades lend strong empirical support to the theory that multisensory maturation scaffolds the development of higher-order skills.

A natural extension of this scaffolding theory suggests that disruptions in foundational sensory function, particularly early in life, are likely to produce cascading effects on development across a number of domains (e.g., Bahrick 2010, Cascio et al. 2016). Research into clinical populations, including children and adults with autism spectrum disorder (ASD), developmental language disorder (DLD) and dyslexia, primary sensory impairments, and other neurodevelopmental and/or neurogenic conditions, has provided significant insights into the critical role of multisensory function for cognitive, linguistic, and/or social development.

ALTERED MULTISENSORY FUNCTION IN CLINICAL CONDITIONS: LINKS TO COGNITION AND BROADER SYMPTOMATOLOGY

Autism Spectrum Disorder

Changes in sensory and multisensory function have now been well established in one of the most pervasive and commonly studied developmental disorders, ASD. Autism has been classically defined by difficulties with social communication coupled with restricted interests and repetitive behaviors, but the most recent diagnostic guidelines now include atypical sensory processing (Am. Psychiatr. Assoc. 2013). Although only recently recognized diagnostically, these sensory issues have been noted since the original description of autism (Kanner 1943) and are among the most commonly reported features associated with the disorder (Le Couteur et al. 1989). A growing body of literature has established that these issues are apparent across a wide range of sensory modalities and, most germane here, include impairments in multisensory integration (for a review, see

Baum et al. 2015), including audiovisual (Feldman et al. 2018), audiotactile (Russo et al. 2010), and visuo-haptic (Cascio et al. 2012) integration.

One of the most commonly used paradigms to examine multisensory integration in autism is the previously described McGurk effect (McGurk & MacDonald 1976). Across numerous studies, autistic individuals¹ are reported to perceive the illusion at significantly reduced rates (e.g., de Gelder et al. 1991, Irwin et al. 2011), a finding validated in a recent meta-analysis (Zhang et al. 2019).

Interestingly, however, the finding of reductions in multisensory integration is less consistent in studies using a multisensory illusion comprising simple flashes and beeps, the sound-induced flash illusion (Shams et al. 2000). Across four studies utilizing this low-level illusion to date, half have found significantly reduced multisensory integration for autistic individuals relative to controls (Foss-Feig et al. 2010, Stevenson et al. 2014b), and half have failed to detect between-group differences (Keane et al. 2010, van der Smagt et al. 2007).

There are two possible explanations for this difference in consistency of findings between the McGurk effect and the sound-induced flash illusion. First, there may be differences between multisensory impairments when processing social or linguistic stimuli relative to nonsocial, nonlinguistic stimuli. Although this pattern has been seen within some individual studies, a recent metaanalysis suggested that the overall effect sizes for between-group differences observed with social versus nonsocial stimuli were not significantly different (Feldman et al. 2018). Thus, the possibility of a disparity in the magnitude of multisensory integration deficits across different stimulus types is an interesting and still-unresolved topic in the field.

A second possibility is that the developmental trajectory of multisensory integration is delayed or disordered. Within the four studies to date that have used the sound-induced flash illusion to study multisensory integration in autism, the two studies testing children found significant reductions for participants with autism relative to typically developing controls (Foss-Feig et al. 2010, Stevenson et al. 2014b), whereas the two studies testing adults failed to find differences (Keane et al. 2010, van der Smagt et al. 2007). Additionally, two studies to date have examined the developmental trajectory of multisensory integration using the McGurk effect, with one showing that autistic individuals show greater impairments early in development and catch up during adolescence (Taylor et al. 2010) and the other showing that autistic individuals show levels of multisensory integration equivalent to their typically developed peers early in development but fail to exhibit the usual increase in multisensory integration observed across development (Stevenson et al. 2014a). A recent quantitative synthesis of the literature of audiovisual integration in persons with ASD has confirmed that between-group effect sizes of multisensory deficits are larger in younger children (Feldman et al. 2018). However, without further study, it remains unresolved whether these differences reflect delayed versus disordered developmental trajectories.

Beyond multisensory illusions, autistic individuals also show reduced multisensory integration in tasks involving speech. The gains in comprehension typically seen for combined audiovisual speech (Sumby & Pollack 1954) have been shown to be diminished in autistic individuals. In particular, studies parametrically varying the signal-to-noise ratio of audiovisual stimuli have shown

¹Although researchers and clinicians often feel more comfortable using person-first language such as "individuals with autism," autistic individuals have endorsed identity-first language that incorporates autism as a component of their identity over person-first language (61% versus 28%) (Kenny et al. 2015). While autistic individuals themselves bear the full ability to choose which terminology is used, these preferences also coincide with those of parents of autistic children (51% versus 22%) (Kenny et al. 2015) and self-advocates (Brown & Autistic Self Advocacy Netw. 2016, Sinclair 1999). As such, we will respect this preference and use this language throughout this manuscript.

that autistic individuals show the greatest reduction in multisensory gain at noise levels similar to those at which typically developed individuals exhibit the greatest multisensory enhancement (Foxe et al. 2013, Stevenson et al. 2017a). A single yet well-powered study also examined multisensory enhancements in speech perception across childhood and adolescence, finding that autistic individuals exhibited significant reductions in multisensory integration that were more pronounced earlier versus later in development (Foxe et al. 2013). These findings, taken as a whole, suggest that disrupted multisensory integration may play an important contributory role in the social communication symptoms and language learning difficulties seen in individuals with ASD.

As previously mentioned, there are multiple low-level stimulus factors that guide the integration of incoming sensory information, including the temporal coincidence of sensory signals. Such physical stimulus cues are used early in development to scaffold the maturation of more advanced perceptual and cognitive abilities. Multisensory temporal processing in autistic individuals has been the topic of intense study in recent years, with these studies typically showing autistic individuals to have less precise multisensory temporal processing (for a review, see Stevenson et al. 2016). A lack of temporal precision has been postulated to cascade into impairments in multisensory integration and social communication in this clinical population (e.g., Bahrick & Todd 2012, Wallace & Stevenson 2014), and a recent study has directly linked multisensory temporal precision with the ability to integrate multisensory speech cues (measured by the McGurk effect) and the behavioral gains experienced in response to multisensory speech (Stevenson et al. 2018b). In short, less precise temporal processing is associated with decreased integration as well as disruptions in speech perception. Indeed, a recent meta-analysis quantified the associations between disrupted multisensory integration and clinical autism symptomatology, demonstrating that multisensory impairments, particularly those exhibited in response to social stimuli, are moderately to strongly correlated with clinical symptoms associated with ASD, including but not limited to impaired social communication (Feldman et al. 2018).

In addition to their impacts on speech perception, impairments in multisensory temporal processing have recently been linked to measures of higher-order language processing. One study used a preferential-looking paradigm to assess synchrony perception and reported that autistic children who preferentially looked toward synchronous audiovisual presentations exhibited higher receptive language abilities (Patten et al. 2014). In a second study, eye-gaze measures suggested that the ability to detect long asynchronies was impaired in autistic individuals, and at these long asynchronies, the proportion of time attending to the synchronous presentations was significantly predictive of both receptive and expressive language (Righi et al. 2018). These two findings begin to connect impairments in the perception of multisensory speech with deficits in higher-order language processing, including expressive language.

As alluded to earlier, deficits in multisensory integration in ASD are not limited to audiovisual integration but are also observed for other modality pairings, including visuo-tactile/ proprioceptive integration. For example, autistic individuals show weaker perception of the rubber-hand illusion (Cascio et al. 2012). In the rubber-hand illusion, the participant's hand is obscured from view while a visible rubber hand is placed to the side of the participant's hand. Both the real and rubber hand are simultaneously stroked with a brush, which induces a perceptual shift of the location of the participant's hand in the direction of the rubber hand as well as a growing sense of ownership of the rubber hand (Botvinick & Cohen 1998). This decrease in perception of the rubber-hand illusion suggests that autistic individuals are less likely to integrate proprioceptive (Minshew et al. 2004) and visual information (Glazebrook et al. 2009) relative to their typically developed peers. Importantly though, multisensory integration and its role in the development of a sense of body ownership and self-differentiation have been linked to a number of cognitive abilities that are impaired in autism, including social referencing, imitation, and empathy (Chaminade et al. 2005, Gallese 2003). Indeed, autistic children who exhibited weaker rubberhand illusions were also more likely to exhibit higher levels of impairment in empathy (Cascio et al. 2012).

The presence of impairments in multisensory temporal processing and multisensory integration and of decrements in higher-order cognitive and communicative operations such as speech perception, receptive and expressive language, and empathy highlights the pervasive impact that sensory impairments may have on development. At the same time, these findings may point toward novel targets for remediation, as is discussed in the section titled Conclusion and Future Directions. We would like to emphasize here the fact that it cannot yet be concluded that these associations are causal, given that the work to date has largely been concurrent and correlational in nature, pointing to the need for more longitudinal and experimental studies in the near future.

Dyslexia

Alterations in multisensory processing are not limited to persons with ASD but are also observed in other clinical populations, including individuals with dyslexia, a specific learning disorder characterized by difficulties with reading that interfere with an individual's academic, social, and vocational success (Am. Psychiatr. Assoc. 2013). There are numerous theories regarding the psychological and neurobiological basis of dyslexia. Many of these posit that the disorder may be rooted in disruptions in various cognitive processes, including associative learning (Gascon & Goodglass 1970), temporal processing (Zurif & Carson 1970), selective attention (Pelham & Ross 1977), rule learning (Manis et al. 1987), attention shifting (Hari & Renvall 2001), or—in what is arguably the prevailing theory at present—phonological processing (e.g., Carroll & Snowling 2004, Wagner 1986).

Other work has posited a strong sensory foundation to dyslexia. Indeed, the first account of dyslexia attributed reading difficulties to a visual deficit or word blindness (Morgan 1896); several subsequent hypotheses have centered on purported deficits in visual attention, visual perceptual processing (Eden et al. 1996), or generalized dysfunction within the auditory system (Hämäläinen et al. 2013). It is notable, though, that one of the earliest hypotheses put forth asserted that dyslexia was rooted not in unisensory differences but rather in a multisensory disturbance, in particular atypical audiovisual integration (Birch & Belmont 1964, 1965).

Such a multisensory emphasis makes intuitive sense, in that reading is inherently a multisensory process wherein one is tasked with mastering the cross-modal correspondence between visual orthographic tokens and phonological forms. A growing literature now lends empirical support to the theory that atypical multisensory function may disrupt this process. Specifically, poor readers show reduced recognition of mismatched orthographic and phonologic forms of words and pseudowords (Fox 1994), atypical neural responses to congruent versus incongruent letter-sound combinations as indexed via electroencephalography (Froyen et al. 2011, Mittag et al. 2013) and functional magnetic resonance imaging (Blau et al. 2009, 2010), and reduced cross-modal activation of cortical areas associated with orthographic processing (i.e., the visual word form area) in response to tasks that tap phonological processing (Desroches et al. 2010).

On measures of broader multisensory function, individuals with reading impairments have been reported to display reduced visual influence on speech perception when presented with mismatched McGurk stimuli, at least under some listening conditions (Hayes et al. 2003); poorer audiovisual temporal acuity (Hairston et al. 2005); less gain in reaction times in response to multisensory versus unisensory stimuli (Harrar et al. 2014); and a reduced boost in perceptual accuracy with access to visual cues on speech-in-noise tasks relative to controls (van Laarhoven et al. 2018, Ziegler et al. 2009). Thus, there is evidence to suggest that individuals who struggle to read show impairments not only in phoneme-grapheme mapping but also in more generalized multisensory integration (for a fairly recent review of this literature, see Hahn et al. 2014).

SLI: specific language impairment

DCD: developmental coordination disorder

Contemporary research has provided new insights into the neural substrates and possible developmental consequences of multisensory disruptions in persons with dyslexia. Specifically, a number of studies point toward the superior temporal sulcus and the larger temporoparietal region, a known hub of multisensory integration, as sites of disruption in persons with reading disorders (e.g., Blau et al. 2010, Rüsseler et al. 2018). Aspects of multisensory processing (specifically sensitivity to audiovisual synchrony) have further been observed to account for unique variance in reading accuracy in adults with dyslexia, even after controlling for several previously identified predictors of reading ability (including working memory, processing speed, associative learning, and cognitive flexibility) (Francisco et al. 2017). In addition, these multisensory measures have been shown to predict future reading outcomes, even before dyslexia can be reliably diagnosed (Karipidis et al. 2018). One hypothesis regarding the mechanistic basis of dyslexia, rooted in work carried out in animal models, posits that increased neural noise stemming from amplified cortical excitability may account for impairments in phonological processing and difficulties with acquiring cross-modal grapheme-phoneme mappings via its effects on multisensory temporal processing (Hancock et al. 2017). This intriguing hypothesis warrants consideration in future research.

Other Neurodevelopmental Disorders

Disruptions in multisensory function have now been observed in a number of additional neurodevelopmental disorders. Accumulating evidence indicates, for example, that in comparison with typically developing peers, children who are diagnosed with specific language impairment (SLI, now also referred to as DLD or simply language disorder), or who have a developmental history of SLI, show decreased selective attention to audiovisual speech and reduced sensitivity to temporal synchrony in audiovisual speech, as evident in studies employing a broad range of biobehavioral methods, including psychophysics, eye tracking, and electroencephalography/event-related potentials (Kaganovich et al. 2014; Pons et al. 2013, 2018). Persons with SLI additionally have difficulty identifying and integrating the visual speech cues that correspond to the auditory speech signal (Norrix et al. 2006, 2007). Relative to controls, they experience a lesser degree of gain in perceptual accuracy in noisy listening conditions with access to audiovisual versus auditory-only speech (Huyse et al. 2015).

Emerging research suggests that differences in audiovisual temporal acuity may also be present early in life in children with other intellectual and developmental disabilities, including infants with Down syndrome and fragile X syndrome (D'Souza et al. 2016). Multisensory disruptions of a different nature (i.e., in the integration of visual, proprioceptive, somatosensory, and auditory information) have been implicated in developmental coordination disorder (DCD), a condition characterized by core deficits in sensorimotor control, a capacity that is reliant upon an intact awareness of the body and its relation to the external environment (Mon-Williams et al. 1999, Schoemaker et al. 2001). The commonality of these findings may be due to the frequent cooccurrence of the conditions reviewed thus far (i.e., ASD, DLD, dyslexia, DCD, Down syndrome, and/or fragile X syndrome) (Matson 2015, Reilly 2009, Visser 2003). Such findings raise the possibility that these multisensory disturbances are not disorder specific but rather are reflective of a more generalized mechanism that impacts neurodevelopment. Thus, there is a need for future research to ascertain the extent to which multisensory processing profiles converge versus diverge across different disorders, as well as to explore the extent to which various features of multisensory function relate to core and related symptoms.

NEUROPSYCHIATRIC CONDITIONS

Alterations in Multisensory Function and Links to Schizophrenia

As defined by the National Institute of Mental Health, schizophrenia (SZ) is a chronic and severe mental disorder that affects how a person thinks, feels, and behaves. One of the hallmark features of the disorder is the frequent presence of delusions and hallucinations, characteristics that are strongly anchored in sensory function. How the sensory features of the disease relate to many of its cognitive aspects, such as disordered thinking, deficits in attention and memory, and disturbances in executive function, remains poorly understood. Nonetheless, some work has begun to elucidate the interrelations between sensory and multisensory function and cognitive abilities in the context of SZ.

Numerous studies have detailed the sensory characteristics of SZ and have illustrated processing changes in a variety of sensory modalities (e.g., Behrendt & Young 2004, Javitt 2009). Auditory hallucinations are perhaps the best recognized of the sensory features of SZ, with neuroimaging evidence showing that such hallucinations are frequently accompanied by activity changes in the areas of the brain linked to the perception of speech, including areas of the superior temporal and inferior frontal cortices (Jardri et al. 2011). Although auditory hallucinations are most frequently associated with SZ, hallucinations have been seen in a number of senses. This, coupled with the presence of sensory features across multiple modalities (and often in the same individuals), suggests that it may be fruitful to view the sensory-based changes in SZ not on a sense-by-sense basis but rather more from a pansensory or multisensory perspective. Thus, rather than stemming from processing changes within a specific sense, these could be a result of more generalized differences that impact all sensory systems or could be a result of specific weaknesses in the ability to integrate information across the senses. Indeed, deficits in sensory integration are considered a neurological soft sign of disease in SZ (Heinrichs & Buchanan 1988) and have been associated with positive symptoms such as hallucinations (Postmes et al. 2014). However, it must be cautioned that the term sensory integration has been used with limited specificity in this past work.

A growing number of studies have now shown deficits specific to the integration of sensory cues from different modalities in SZ. The major finding from these studies has been an apparent weakness in the ability to obtain behavioral and perceptual benefits from combined audiovisual cues, with an emphasis on speech-related stimuli (Pearl et al. 2009, Ross et al. 2007). Probing further, these studies suggest that deficits are most pronounced when audiovisual speech stimuli are embedded in noise (Ross et al. 2007). Extending these findings was work showing that multisensory differences were observed even in response to simple tasks measuring reaction times to paired audiovisual targets. Though control participants show a significant speeding under multisensory conditions, such benefits were found to be substantially reduced in the SZ population (Williams et al. 2010). In the perceptual arena, prior work has shown that those with SZ are less susceptible to the McGurk illusion (Pearl et al. 2009). Probing the possible neurophysiological correlates of these differences in multisensory function, electroencephalographic studies have found that the neural signatures associated with multisensory-mediated behavioral gains are significantly compromised in those with SZ (Stekelenburg et al. 2013).

One area of intense research focus in regard to multisensory differences in SZ is temporal processing, wherein there is emerging evidence that those with SZ integrate multisensory stimuli over different time intervals when compared with non-SZ individuals (Foucher et al. 2007). This work, much of it focused on the construct of the multisensory TBW (operationalized above), was predicated on initial reports of poor acuity in judging the temporal relationship between paired auditory, visual, and audiovisual stimulus pairs in persons with SZ (Foucher et al. 2007). Building off of this work, Stevenson et al. (2017b) found audiovisual temporal acuity differences

SZ: schizophrenia

AD: Alzheimer's disease

in individuals with SZ relative to controls that could not simply be attributed to differences in unisensory (i.e., auditory alone, visual alone) processing. Perhaps more importantly, these changes in multisensory temporal acuity were predictive of hallucination severity, connecting changes in multisensory temporal function to one of the core clinical features of SZ. Structural and functional imaging work further connects these domains by showing striking overlap, specifically in regions along the superior temporal sulcus, in activation patterns associated with multisensory temporal function and positive sensory symptoms of SZ (Kim et al. 2003, Surguladze et al. 2001, Szycik et al. 2009).

Much work still needs to be done to understand how changes in sensory and multisensory function relate to changes in cognitive abilities in SZ. Although both sensory and cognitive features are common characteristics of the disease, their mechanistic interrelationships need to be elucidated. As highlighted earlier, sensory and multisensory systems are theorized to form the foundation for perceptual and cognitive representations. Accordingly, the integrity of the sensory information reaching these representations and the manner in which it is integrated could be powerful determinants of healthy (and pathological) cognitive function.

Multisensory Integration in Healthy and Pathological Aging and Links to Cognition

Acuity and performance within the individual sensory systems almost inevitably declines with aging. Although outside the scope of this review, these changes in unisensory function have been strongly associated with cognitive decline. Age-related changes in unisensory performance and perception create an interesting challenge (and perhaps an interesting opportunity) for multisensory systems. On the one hand, as with unisensory systems, multisensory systems and the networks that support multisensory function may also decline with aging. Alternatively, multisensorymediated performance gains may increase as acuity within the individual senses declines (Tye-Murray et al. 2010). Such a prediction is in keeping with the so-called principle of inverse effectiveness, in which multisensory gain increases as unisensory salience or reliability decreases (Stein & Meredith 1993). Statistical optimality-based accounts of multisensory performance offer a similar prediction (Alais & Burr 2004, Ernst & Banks 2002).

In recent years, studies have set out to examine multisensory function in the context of normal aging and age-related disorders such as dementia and Alzheimer's disease (AD). Results of research on the typical aging process suggest that older individuals on average experience larger performance gains under multisensory conditions when compared with younger adults (e.g., Laurienti et al. 2006, Peiffer et al. 2007). These changes in multisensory function have been linked with the declines in perceptual sensitivity that accompany aging (e.g., Setti et al. 2013, Tye-Murray et al. 2016). However, as a general rule, these performance improvements appear to be limited to the pairing of very simple stimuli such as flashes and beeps. As stimulus and task complexity increases, these larger multisensory gains often disappear, and multisensory performance deficits become the norm, notably for the binding of speech-related audiovisual signals (Stevenson et al. 2015). Such a shift from performance gains to performance decrements may be explained by the accumulating evidence for changes in multisensory temporal function in aging (e.g., Bedard & Barnett-Cowan 2016, Chan et al. 2014). These changes are manifest as a widening window within which multisensory signals are integrated (the TBW), a widening that tends to covary with a reduction in the overall magnitude of multisensory integration for synchronous multisensory stimuli (Stevenson et al. 2018a). Given that the width of the TBW grows with stimulus complexity, this could explain the contrast between gains and deficits in the elderly related to stimulus complexity. One global possibility that could explain this decrease in multisensory temporal acuity in aging is the generalized slowing that has been seen in many studies of aging individuals (Salthouse 1996). Although this is a possible contributing factor, many of the studies of age-related changes in the width of the TBW have found these increases to be preferentially seen in tests of audiovisual (i.e., multisensory) binding. Stated a bit differently, differences in unisensory acuity are insufficient to explain the changes that are seen in multisensory temporal function, suggesting that generalized slowing is not a driving factor.

The evidence cited above focuses on audiovisual interactions largely because such interactions are most readily related to cognition, given their strong relationship to speech comprehension, language processes, and executive function. However, evidence for altered multisensory function in aging has been seen across a host of stimulus combinations, including visual-vestibular interactions (e.g., Ramkhalawansingh et al. 2017). Changes in visual-vestibular integration are important because of the likely role they play in the increased incidence of falls in the elderly (Setti et al. 2011). One area of research opportunity that has yet to be pursued in the aging arena is the covariation of changes across the various multisensory stimulus pairings. For example, are changes in audiovisual integration and visual-vestibular integration highly correlated? Such studies will provide greater mechanistic insight into the aging brain.

Changes in multisensory abilities across the life span are likely tied to changes in cognitive function, although the direction of this relationship is difficult to decipher. Given the previously articulated view that (multi)sensory systems scaffold the construction and maintenance of perceptual and cognitive representations, one might predict that sensory-based changes resulting from aging would ultimately lead to cognitive changes. Such a causal relationship has been difficult to establish, despite the wealth of correlative evidence linking sensory and cognitive decline and calls for the use of more targeted experimental research designs in subsequent work. Furthermore, the unique contributions of changes in multisensory function (as opposed to broad-based sensory changes) have yet to be established. Given that multisensory function necessitates integration across large neural networks, however, it seems likely that differences in multisensory abilities will track more closely with changes in cognitive domains when compared with changes in unisensory abilities.

Finally, there is a rapidly growing body of evidence suggesting that multisensory interactions are mediated by a combination of bottom-up (i.e., sensory encoding) and top-down (i.e., attentional, decisional) factors (Choi et al. 2018, Rohe & Noppeney 2018). Such an organization raises the question of how aging affects each of these contributors to the final multisensory product. Asking the question more concretely, might the impact of aging on top-down processes precede its impact on bottom-up processes, and how may such differential effects be teased out?

Although only a few studies have sought to characterize multisensory function specific to diseases of aging and have shown selective deficits in multisensory abilities in mild cognitive impairment and AD (Festa et al. 2017, Wu et al. 2012), remediation work in these diseases is increasingly multisensory focused (for a review, see Sánchez et al. 2013). These approaches, which are being used now in many conditions in which there is evidence for multisensory dysfunction, are predicated on the ideas that exposure to multisensory settings can train integrative networks to better process sensory information and that this emphasis on enhanced integration will translate to benefits in higher-order cognitive domains.

SENSORY LOSS AND CROSS-MODAL PLASTICITY

Vision Loss, Cross-Modal Plasticity, and Impact on Cognition

Multisensory function is likely to play a key role not only in the neurodevelopmental and neuropsychiatric conditions detailed in the above sections but also in circumstances of sensory loss, in which large-scale brain reorganization typically takes place. For example, loss of vision, either complete or partial, is accompanied by marked reorganizational changes in the brain, which attempts to compensate for the loss of visual information. Although this cross-modal plasticity is most extensive when the vision loss occurs in early life, there is evidence for substantial plasticity even when the loss occurs in adulthood. A common theme in many studies of cross-modal plasticity is that portions of the deprived visual representations are recruited by other sensory modalities, with the most evidence for auditory and somatosensory inputs entering into regions of the visual brain. Such plastic changes create a very different organization framework within which multisensory interactions can take place.

Although there may be mechanistic similarities, a useful distinction in these studies of vision loss separates the effects of complete from partial loss. Such a distinction is particularly appropriate for the current topic, as partial vision loss results in striking changes in multisensory function that are not seen (at least for visual-nonvisual interactions) in the absence of vision. Hence, studies of blindness generally focus on cross-modal plasticity and document both the anatomical and functional recruitment of areas such as visual cortex for nonvisual sensory functions as well as enhanced abilities in the remaining senses that are posited to be a result of the recruitment of visual regions (Fine & Park 2018, Renier et al. 2014). Recent work in this area illustrates the utility of describing visual cortical regions not based on their visual properties but rather based on their task specificity. Perhaps the best example of this is the so-called visual word form area, originally described based on its responses to visually presented words (Dehaene & Cohen 2011). However, more recent work with the congenitally blind has shown this area to respond to words presented via Braille, as well as to words rendered into soundscapes as learned and discriminated via auditory sensory substitution devices, suggesting that this area is specialized for the processing of word forms regardless of the modality in which they are presented (Striem-Amit et al. 2012).

More germane to multisensory function are circumstances in which vision is impaired but some residual visual abilities remain. In such circumstances, the nonimpaired senses provide redundant information that can supplement the weak cues provided through vision. These conditions of low vision are perhaps best viewed through the lens of conceptual models of multisensory function such as cue reliability and maximum likelihood estimation (Alais & Burr 2004, Ernst & Banks 2002), in which the product of a multisensory interaction is dependent on the relative reliability of the sensory signals. According to such frameworks, in conditions such as low vision, the addition of information from a second sense (such as audition) has the potential to substantially boost visual performance (Targher et al. 2012, 2017). Such benefits provide an important foundation from which to explore the possibility of low vision rehabilitation based in multisensory training (Bolognini et al. 2005).

Although research into the links between multisensory function and low vision and cognitive abilities in children and adults at present is limited, recent evidence from two large US national data sets suggests strong associations between vision loss and cognitive decline in older adults (Chen et al. 2017). The presence of such links raises the possibility that training protocols intended to optimize multisensory performance could provide not only benefits for vision but also some degree of protection against age-related cognitive decline in those with poor vision.

Hearing Loss, Cochlear Implants, and Multisensory Abilities

Much like for vision loss, a substantial amount of work has documented cross-modal plasticity associated with hearing loss (for a review, see Sharma & Glick 2016). The emphasis of this work has been on those with profound sensorineural hearing loss, which occurs both congenitally and at later stages of life through a variety of audiologic or neurologic insults. As with vision loss, loss of hearing is accompanied by major alterations in the anatomical and functional properties of auditory brain regions (most notably auditory cortex) and by significant recruitment of auditory cortex by inputs from other sensory modalities. Only recently has attention turned to such cross-modal changes in the context of moderate hearing impairment, wherein electrophysiological evidence shows that visual cross-modal reorganization of auditory cortex begins even in the early stages of hearing loss (Campbell & Sharma 2014).

One difference with hearing loss as compared to vision loss has been the remarkable benefits offered by the cochlear implant (CI), a neuroprosthetic device that restores some degree of hearing function to improve access to environmental sounds, augment speech perception, and support language acquisition in the profoundly deaf (Kral et al. 2019). The CI takes auditory input captured by a microphone and sends a processed signal to electrodes implanted within the inner ear. Although highly degraded, these electrical signals are often sufficient to support speech comprehension, generally after a period of training. One important and until recently relatively understudied aspect of CI function is the additional information conveyed by the visual system through the lip movements of the speaker. As highlighted earlier, in normal hearing subjects these visual cues can substantially amplify the audible signal, particularly in noisy environments. Thus, it seems highly likely that with the degraded auditory input provided by the implant, CI users will be even more reliant upon these visual cues. However, until recently, it was believed that lip reading could impede functional reorganization by not allowing the novel auditory inputs to reinnervate auditory cortex (Champoux et al. 2009, Sandmann et al. 2012).

A number of studies have now examined audiovisual function in CI users (for a recent review, see Stevenson et al. 2017c), beginning with an early study claiming that CI users were better multisensory integrators (Rouger et al. 2007). This work includes studies of deaf animal models implanted with these devices. The major findings from this work provide substantial evidence for plastic changes in auditory and visual cortical regions as well as more widespread network reorganization following implantation (Giraud et al. 2001, Strelnikov et al. 2015), links between audiovisual temporal function and implant outcomes (Butera et al. 2018, Jahn et al. 2017), and improvements in spatial localization following multisensory training (Isaiah et al. 2014). Findings from this work, as well as recent neuroimaging work using functional near-infrared spectroscopy (Anderson et al. 2017), do not appear to support the assertion that lip reading impedes cortical reorganization in CI users. Future work is needed in this area, especially because training for CI users, in particular treatment geared toward newly implanted children and adults, continues to be based on older ideas and frequently blocks access to visual speech cues. In contrast, a more multisensory-based perspective suggests that treatments providing access to redundant cross-modal cues would facilitate multisensory development and yield more optimal speech and language outcomes for this clinical population.

Collectively these findings strongly point to a greater emphasis in future rehabilitative work focused on multisensory function in which training objectives would emphasize the use of combined concordant visual and auditory cues as tools to build more robust and veridical multisensory representations. The potential cognitive benefits of such approaches cannot be understated, as hearing loss has been strongly associated with cognitive declines, most notably in the elderly (Lin et al. 2013, Loughrey et al. 2018). Indeed, great opportunity would appear to exist in the prevention of cognitive decline in those with moderate hearing loss, in whom multisensory-mediated training approaches may slow the erosion of cognitive abilities. This final point also emphasizes the need for more research into multisensory function in the context of hearing aids, a pervasive assistive technology where little is known about how such auditory amplification impacts multisensory performance and abilities (Gieseler et al. 2018).

CI: cochlear implant

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Research carried out over the last half century has greatly advanced our understanding of the nature of multisensory integration across species and across the life span. The results of this work provide new insights into how organisms process sensory input, the neurophysiological foundations of multisensory function, the time course for multisensory development, and the innumerable links between multisensory processing and cognitive abilities. This large and ever-growing literature has implications for theory, research, and clinical practice in disorders and diseases in which known multisensory processing changes exist.

The findings we have reviewed collectively lend increasing empirical support to the theory that multisensory function has strong links with cognition, language, communication, and a host of other higher-level abilities. However, we cannot yet conclude confidently that multisensory disruptions are truly foundational to the aforementioned constructs, as the bulk of the extant literature has employed research designs that do not permit inferences regarding causal effects (e.g., intact group comparisons and/or correlational approaches). Further work using well-controlled experimental designs with an eye toward delimiting causal relations is needed to disentangle the extent to which multisensory differences drive cognitive development and vice versa.

Compelling findings into the dynamic relation between multisensory function and cognition are forthcoming from innovative research in the area of developmental robotics, a field at the intersection of engineering and robotics, cognitive and developmental psychology, and neuroscience (e.g., Cangelosi & Schlesinger 2018, Lungarella et al. 2003). Research in this sector is leveraging advanced technology and machine learning approaches to explore the interplay between multisensory function and cognitive development. Results of such investigations provide further support for the findings described in earlier sections, suggesting that spatially and/or temporally aligned information from multiple modalities-auditory, visual, tactile, and proprioceptive-guides our attention, influences the manner in which we explore and engage with our environment, and shapes our perceptual representations to facilitate the acquisition of higher-order skills including object and self-recognition, word learning, and social behaviors such as imitation and cooperation. In addition, this work reinforces the role of top-down processes such as executive control in multisensory function (e.g., Al-azzawi et al. 2018, Arsenio & Fitzpatrick 2005, Metta & Fitzpatrick 2003, Torres-Jara et al. 2005, Wang & Xin 2018, Zhang & Weng 2010). This type of work will undoubtedly yield new insights into the mechanisms by which multisensory experience bootstraps broader cognition and learning, and by which cognitive processes influence one's interaction and engagement with the environment to impact sensory experience.

The breadth of disruptions in multisensory integration implicated across clinical populations suggests that measures of multisensory function hold promise for future application in clinical practice, perhaps for predicting outcomes in children with or at risk for neurodevelopmental disorders and/or measuring the progression of typical aging or the impact of neurogenic conditions. A number of limitations, however, currently preclude a recommendation for widespread measurement of multisensory function in clinical settings. A primary challenge at present is a lack of standardized and norm-referenced measures of multisensory processing. Furthermore, several of the most commonly used measures, such as psychophysical and neuroimaging approaches, are relatively high demand and/or high cost and thus do not necessarily lend themselves readily to use in some populations, in particular those who are very young, those who are less cognitively able, and those who have limited language or communication ability. It is notable, as well, that most existing measures are heavily weighted toward the measurement of fairly restricted aspects of multisensory function—largely the processing and/or integration of auditory and visual information, which is easiest to manipulate for experimental purposes but which may not reflect the

full range of multisensory deficits tied to cognition and broader adaptive function. Thus, there is a pressing need to develop and validate a standardized battery of measures that will permit more comprehensive assessment of multisensory function across the life span and range of functioning levels.

The development and validation of more exhaustive multisensory measures will facilitate further investigations into the links between disordered multisensory integration, cognition, and communication in the context of the growing use of a dimensional conceptual framework through which to understand the biological basis of normal and atypical brain-behavior relations (i.e., Research Domain Criteria or RDoC) (Insel et al. 2010). Dimensional approaches recognize that, while a diagnosis of a particular disorder necessitates the presence of a specific constellation of concurrent symptoms, individual symptoms themselves are commonly represented on a spectrum across other disorders and in the general population. The RDoC perspective is intended to better tap the mapping between individual phenotypic characteristics (that are often shared across disorders and that may often manifest at subclinical levels) and their underlying biological (and genetic) basis. Thus, to understand the mechanisms underlying a particular symptom, including difficulties with multisensory integration and impairments in cognition, a promising approach is to measure these symptoms (commonly referred to as traits in nonclinical samples) across disorders and within the general population.

Indeed, research taking this approach has begun to provide a view into the associations between multisensory processing and cognition that exist even in persons with typical developmental and health histories. For example, subclinical autistic traits have been shown to relate to multisensory temporal processing (Donohue et al. 2012, Yaguchi & Hidaka 2018). Likewise, characteristics of autism have been linked to atypical multisensory integration as indexed via the rubber-hand illusion (Palmer et al. 2013) and the McGurk effect (Ujiie et al. 2015), as well as to cognitive and communicative functions that have been shown to be associated with multisensory integration within persons diagnosed with autism, such as speech perception (Stewart & Ota 2008, Yu et al. 2011). The application of such dimensional approaches thus shows significant promise for exploring the interplay between multisensory integration and cognition going forward.

Preclinical investigations clarifying the nature of multisensory profiles and more precisely elucidating the links between multisensory function and higher-order skills will lay a foundation for translational research structured to develop more effective and efficient interventions for clinical populations. The breadth of disruptions in multisensory function observed across neurodevelopmental disorders and neurogenic conditions and demonstrated links with clinical symptomatology suggest that treatments targeting multisensory function may hold some promise for facilitating cognitive development and preserving/strengthening cognitive function. Such approaches are founded in the growing evidence detailing marked plasticity in multisensory processes and their associated brain representations, as well as the growing acknowledgment of links between multisensory function and cognition (e.g., De Niear et al. 2018; Powers et al. 2009, 2012). Wellcontrolled clinical trials that systematically test the efficacy of candidate interventions on proximal aspects of multisensory function as well as progressively more distal skills will provide muchneeded insights into the extent to which targeted treatments may translate to more optimal cognitive and communication outcomes. Studies incorporating research design elements and analytic approaches that permit testing of the subgroups for whom, and the mechanisms by which, novel sensory-based treatments work have the greatest potential to advance us toward more personalized treatment planning for clinical populations displaying multisensory differences.

In attempting to better understand the relationship between multisensory function and cognition, there is a need to explore and elucidate shared neurobiological mechanisms. Neural oscillations represent one brain mechanism by which multisensory treatments may impact distal outcomes in clinical populations. There is increasing evidence in support of a fundamental role for these oscillations in the integration of information across the senses, in particular in the processing and transfer of information, at scales ranging from very local circuit computations through communication across broad areas of the cerebral cortex (Buzsáki & Draguhn 2004). Furthermore, the importance of oscillations for a host of cognitive processes has been well established. Linking between multisensory and cognitive functions, oscillations have been put forth as a potential mechanism underlying the visual amplification of speech signals (Schroeder et al. 2008), and neurophysiological work in animal models has shown that nonvisual inputs into auditory cortex have the ability to reset the phase of ongoing neuronal oscillations, providing a powerful multisensorymediated gain control mechanism (Lakatos et al. 2007). Building from the role of these brain rhythms in multisensory function and potential links to cognition, oscillations and the associated oscillatory hierarchy have been shown to be altered in a variety of clinical conditions, including autism (Simon & Wallace 2016) and SZ (Uhlhaas & Singer 2010). Much of this work has been focused on relating changes in oscillatory amplitude, frequency, and coupling to the primary clinical features of these disorders, such as social communication in autism (Cornew et al. 2012) and hallucinations in SZ (Spencer et al. 2004). In contrast, little work has been done to explore the relationship between oscillatory changes in sensory and multisensory brain networks and changes in the cognitive domains that often represent the hallmark clinical features. As multisensory perceptual binding represents a key integrative process strongly dependent upon brain oscillations, exploring such relations seems a fruitful area of future inquiry, not only for the mechanistic insights likely to be derived but also for the potential to apply this knowledge to design better interventions that target oscillatory function.

In conclusion, the most promising future direction is in building a stronger knowledge base that details the relationships between multisensory and cognitive abilities, in both health and disease. Scientists working within both the multisensory space and the realm of cognition have developed (or are working to develop) comprehensive batteries that seek to characterize various constructs within their respective large functional domains. However, these efforts appear to be proceeding largely in parallel. Our perspective is that future work carried out with an eye toward interrelationships between sensory and cognitive constructs will lend stronger support to the notion that multisensory function scaffolds the development and maintenance of cognitive representations and point toward important targets of novel interventions aiming to ameliorate cognitive dysfunction.

SUMMARY POINTS

- 1. Research into links between multisensory function and cognitive abilities is growing at a rapid rate.
- 2. Seminal studies in animal models unveiled some of the neurophysiological operations that support multisensory function, with an emphasis on several key stimulus-dependent or bottom-up principles that guide these operations.
- 3. Developmental research indicates that multisensory function begins to emerge early, with rudimentary skills present even in the first few months of postnatal life, but shows a protracted trajectory with maturational changes evident throughout adolescence and early adulthood.
- 4. A strong theoretical framework has been espoused suggesting that multisensory function scaffolds the development of cognitive abilities and other higher-order skills. According

to this framework, disruptions in multisensory function may produce cascading effects on cognitive domains.

- 5. Disturbances in multisensory function are implicated in a number of neurodevelopmental disorders, including autism spectrum disorder, dyslexia, developmental language disorder, and more.
- 6. In addition, alterations in multisensory function accompany a number of neuropsychiatric conditions such as schizophrenia and age-related conditions such as dementia and Alzheimer's disease, as well as following sensory loss.
- 7. Differences in multisensory processing have been linked to a broad range of cognitive abilities in these disorders and are often accompanied by atypical neural structure and function centered on known multisensory hubs such as the superior temporal sulcus.
- 8. Findings from the extant literature collectively lend some empirical support to the cascading effects theory, suggesting that multisensory markers may have clinical utility for predicting future clinical symptomatology and/or may serve as important targets for interventions.
- 9. There is a great deal of evidence showing marked plasticity for multisensory processes and associated brain substrates. This evidence, coupled with the growing acknowledgment of links between multisensory function and cognition, points toward the possibility that multisensory-focused interventions may have the ability to not only impact sensory and integrative function but also provide benefits for distal functions such as cognition and communication.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by NIH U54 HD083211 (M.T.W.), NIH R21MH109225 (M.T.W.), and NIH R21DC016144 (T.G.W.). R.A.S. is funded through an NSERC Discovery Grant (RGPIN-2017–04656), an SSHRC Insight Grant (435–2017–0936), the University of Western Ontario Faculty Development Research Fund, and a John R. Evans Leaders Fund through the Canadian Foundation for Innovation (37497).

LITERATURE CITED

- Al-azzawi N, Bayram B, Ince G. 2018. Audiovisual attention for robots from a developmental perspective. In 3rd International Conference on Computer Science and Engineering (UBMK), pp. 312–17. New York: IEEE
- Alais D, Burr D. 2004. The ventriloquist effect results from near-optimal bimodal integration. *Curr. Biol.* 14:257–62
- Am. Psychiatr. Assoc. 2013. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. Arlington, VA: Am. Psychiatr. Publ. 5th ed.
- Anderson CA, Wiggins IM, Kitterick PT, Hartley DE. 2017. Adaptive benefit of cross-modal plasticity following cochlear implantation in deaf adults. PNAS 114:10256–61

Arsenio AM, Fitzpatrick PM. 2005. Exploiting amodal cues for robot perception. Int. J. Humanoid Robot. 2:125–43

- Bahrick LE. 2010. Intermodal perception and selective attention to intersensory redundancy: implications for typical social development and autism. In *The Wiley-Blackwell Handbook of Infant Development*, ed. JG Bremner, TD Wachs, pp. 120–66. Malden, MA: Wiley-Blackwell
- Bahrick LE, Flom R, Lickliter R. 2002. Intersensory redundancy facilitates discrimination of tempo in 3-month-old infants. *Dev. Psychobiol.* 41:352–63
- Bahrick LE, Lickliter R. 2000. Intersensory redundancy guides attentional selectivity and perceptual learning in infancy. *Dev. Psychol.* 36:190–201
- Bahrick LE, Lickliter R. 2002. Intersensory redundancy guides early perceptual and cognitive development. Adv. Child Dev. Behav. 30:153–89
- Bahrick LE, Todd JT. 2012. Multisensory processing in autism spectrum disorders: intersensory processing disturbance as a basis for atypical development. In *The New Handbook of Multisensory Processes*, ed. B Stein, pp. 657–74. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press
- Bahrick LE, Todd JT, Soska KC. 2018. The Multisensory Attention Assessment Protocol (MAAP): characterizing individual differences in multisensory attention skills in infants and children and relations with language and cognition. Dev. Psychol. 54:2207–25
- Baum SH, Stevenson RA, Wallace MT. 2015. Behavioral, perceptual, and neural alterations in sensory and multisensory function in autism spectrum disorder. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 134:140–60
- Bedard G, Barnett-Cowan M. 2016. Impaired timing of audiovisual events in the elderly. *Exp. Brain Res.* 234:331-40
- Behrendt R-P, Young C. 2004. Hallucinations in schizophrenia, sensory impairment, and brain disease: a unifying model. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 27:771–87
- Birch HG, Belmont L. 1964. Auditory-visual integration in normal and retarded readers. Am. J. Orthopsychiatry 34:852–61
- Birch HG, Belmont L. 1965. Auditory-visual integration, intelligence and reading ability in school children. Percept. Motor Skills 20:295–305
- Blau V, Reithler J, van Atteveldt N, Seitz J, Gerretsen P, et al. 2010. Deviant processing of letters and speech sounds as proximate cause of reading failure: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study of dyslexic children. *Brain* 133:868–79
- Blau V, van Atteveldt N, Ekkebus M, Goebel R, Blomert L. 2009. Reduced neural integration of letters and speech sounds links phonological and reading deficits in adult dyslexia. *Curr. Biol.* 19:503–8
- Bolognini N, Rasi F, Coccia M, Làdavas E. 2005. Visual search improvement in hemianopic patients after audio-visual stimulation. *Brain* 128:2830–42

Botvinick M, Cohen J. 1998. Rubber hands 'feel' touch that eyes see. Nature 391:756

- Bremner AJ, Lewkowicz DJ, Spence C, eds. 2012a. *Multisensory Development*. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Bremner AJ, Lewkowicz DJ, Spence C. 2012b. The multisensory approach to development. In *Multisensory Development*, ed. AJ Bremner, DJ Lewkowicz, C Spence, pp. 1–26. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Brown L, Autistic Self Advocacy Netw. 2016. Identity-first language. Autistic Self Advocacy Network. http:// autisticadvocacy.org/ home/about-asan/identity-first-language/
- Butera IM, Stevenson RA, Mangus BD, Woynaroski TG, Gifford RH, Wallace MT. 2018. Audiovisual temporal processing in postlingually deafened adults with cochlear implants. Sci. Rep. 8:11345
- Buzsáki G, Draguhn A. 2004. Neuronal oscillations in cortical networks. Science 304:1926–29
- Campbell J, Sharma A. 2014. Cross-modal re-organization in adults with early stage hearing loss. *PLOS ONE* 9:e90594
- Cangelosi A, Schlesinger M. 2018. From babies to robots: the contribution of developmental robotics to developmental psychology. *Child Dev. Perspect.* 12:183–88
- Cappe C, Thelen T, Romei V, Thut G, Murray MM. 2012. Looming signals reveal synergistic principles of multisensory integration. J. Neurosci. 32:1171–82
- Carroll JM, Snowling MJ. 2004. Language and phonological skills in children at high risk of reading difficulties. *J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry* 45:631–40

Recently published book reviewing typical multisensory development and its disruptions.

- Cascio CJ, Foss-Feig JH, Burnette CP, Heacock JL, Cosby AA. 2012. The rubber hand illusion in children with autism spectrum disorders: delayed influence of combined tactile and visual input on proprioception. *Autism* 16:406–19
- Cascio CJ, Woynaroski T, Baranek GT, Wallace M. 2016. Toward an interdisciplinary approach to understanding sensory function in autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Res.* 9:920–25
- Chaminade T, Meltzoff AN, Decety J. 2005. An fMRI study of imitation: action representation and body schema. Neuropsychologia 43:115–27
- Champoux F, Lepore F, Gagné J-P, Théoret H. 2009. Visual stimuli can impair auditory processing in cochlear implant users. *Neuropsychologia* 47:17–22
- Chan YM, Pianta MJ, McKendrick AM. 2014. Older age results in difficulties separating auditory and visual signals in time. *J. Vis.* 14:13
- Chandrasekaran C, Trubanova A, Stillittano S, Caplier A, Ghazanfar A. 2009. The natural statistics of audiovisual speech. *PLOS Comput. Biol.* 5:e1000436
- Chen SP, Bhattacharya J, Pershing S. 2017. Association of vision loss with cognition in older adults. *JAMA* Ophthalmol. 135:963–70
- Choi I, Lee J-Y, Lee S-H. 2018. Bottom-up and top-down modulation of multisensory integration. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 52:115–22
- Clark A, Chalmers D. 1998. The extended mind. Analysis 58:7-19
- Collignon O, Charbonneau G, Peters F, Nassim M, Lassonde M, et al. 2013. Reduced multisensory facilitation in persons with autism. *Cortex* 49:1704–10
- Cornew L, Roberts TP, Blaskey L, Edgar JC. 2012. Resting-state oscillatory activity in autism spectrum disorders. 7. Autism Dev. Disord. 42:1884–94
- D'Souza D, D'Souza H, Johnson MH, Karmiloff-Smith A. 2016. Audio-visual speech perception in infants and toddlers with Down syndrome, fragile X syndrome, and Williams syndrome. *Infant Behav. Dev.* 44:249– 62
- de Boisferon AH, Tift AH, Minar NJ, Lewkowicz DJ. 2018. The redeployment of attention to the mouth of a talking face in the second year of life. *J. Exp. Child Psychol.* 172:189–200
- de Gelder B, Vroomen J, Van der Heide L. 1991. Face recognition and lip-reading in autism. *Eur. J. Cogn. Psychol.* 3:69–86
- De Niear MA, Gupta PB, Baum SH, Wallace MT. 2018. Perceptual training enhances temporal acuity for multisensory speech. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 147:9–17
- Dehaene S, Cohen L. 2011. The unique role of the visual word form area in reading. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 15:254–62
- Desroches AS, Cone NE, Bolger DJ, Bitan T, Burman DD, Booth JR. 2010. Children with reading difficulties show differences in brain regions associated with orthographic processing during spoken language processing. *Brain Res.* 1356:73–84
- Dixon NF, Spitz L. 1980. The detection of auditory visual desynchrony. Perception 9:719-21
- Donohue SE, Darling EF, Mitroff SR. 2012. Links between multisensory processing and autism. Exp. Brain Res. 222:377–87
- Eden GF, VanMeter JW, Rumsey JM, Zeffiro TA. 1996. The visual deficit theory of developmental dyslexia. *Neuroimage* 4:S108–17
- Ernst MO, Banks MS. 2002. Humans integrate visual and haptic information in a statistically optimal fashion. *Nature* 415:429–33
- Feldman JI, Dunham K, Cassidy M, Wallace MT, Liu Y, Woynaroski TG. 2018. Audiovisual multisensory integration in individuals with autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Neurosci. Biobebav. Rev.* 95:220–34
- Festa EK, Katz AP, Ott BR, Tremont G, Heindel WC. 2017. Dissociable effects of aging and mild cognitive impairment on bottom-up audiovisual integration. J. Alzbeimer's Dis. 59:155–67

Fine I, Park J-M. 2018. Blindness and human brain plasticity. Annu. Rev. Vis. Sci. 4:337-56

Fister JK, Stevenson RA, Nidiffer AR, Barnett ZP, Wallace MT. 2016. Stimulus intensity modulates multisensory temporal processing. *Neuropsychologia* 88:92–100 Recent review and quantitative synthesis of literature on audiovisual multisensory integration in autism spectrum disorder.

- Flom R, Bahrick LE. 2007. The development of infant discrimination of affect in multimodal and unimodal stimulation: the role of intersensory redundancy. *Dev. Psychol.* 43:238–52
- Flom R, Bahrick LE. 2010. The effects of intersensory redundancy on attention and memory: infants' longterm memory for orientation in audiovisual events. *Dev. Psychol.* 46:428–36
- Foss-Feig JH, Kwakye LD, Cascio CJ, Burnette CP, Kadivar H, et al. 2010. An extended multisensory temporal binding window in autism spectrum disorders. *Exp. Brain Res.* 203:381–89
- Foucher JR, Lacambre M, Pham B-T, Giersch A, Elliott M. 2007. Low time resolution in schizophrenia: lengthened windows of simultaneity for visual, auditory and bimodal stimuli. *Schizophr. Res.* 97:118–27
- Fox E. 1994. Grapheme-phoneme correspondence in dyslexic and matched control readers. Br. J. Psychol. 85:41-53
- Foxe JJ, Molholm S, Del Bene VA, Frey H-P, Russo NN, et al. 2013. Severe multisensory speech integration deficits in high-functioning school-aged children with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and their resolution during early adolescence. *Cereb. Cortex* 25:298–312
- Francisco AA, Groen MA, Jesse A, McQueen JM. 2017. Beyond the usual cognitive suspects: the importance of speechreading and audiovisual temporal sensitivity in reading ability. *Learn. Individ. Differ.* 54:60–72
- Frank MC, Slemmer JA, Marcus GF, Johnson SP. 2009. Information from multiple modalities helps 5-montholds learn abstract rules. Dev. Sci. 12:504–9
- Froyen D, Willems G, Blomert L. 2011. Evidence for a specific cross-modal association deficit in dyslexia: an electrophysiological study of letter–speech sound processing. *Dev. Sci.* 14:635–48
- Gallese V. 2003. The roots of empathy: the shared manifold hypothesis and the neural basis of intersubjectivity. *Psychopathology* 36:171–80
- Gascon G, Goodglass H. 1970. Reading retardation and the information content of stimuli in paired associate learning. Cortex 6:417–29
- Gieseler A, Tahden MA, Thiel CM, Colonius H. 2018. Does hearing aid use affect audiovisual integration in mild hearing impairment? *Exp. Brain Res.* 236:1161–79
- Giraud A-L, Price CJ, Graham JM, Truy E, Frackowiak RS. 2001. Cross-modal plasticity underpins language recovery after cochlear implantation. *Neuron* 30:657–64
- Glazebrook C, Gonzalez D, Hansen S, Elliott D. 2009. The role of vision for online control of manual aiming movements in persons with autism spectrum disorders. *Autism* 13:411–33
- Gogate LJ, Bahrick LE. 1998. Intersensory redundancy facilitates learning of arbitrary relations between vowel sounds and objects in seven-month-old infants. *J. Exp. Child Psychol.* 69:133–49
- Hahn N, Foxe JJ, Molholm S. 2014. Impairments of multisensory integration and cross-sensory learning as pathways to dyslexia. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 47:384–92
- Hairston WD, Burdette JH, Flowers DL, Wood FB, Wallace MT. 2005. Altered temporal profile of visualauditory multisensory interactions in dyslexia. *Exp. Brain Res.* 166:474–80
- Hämäläinen JA, Salminen HK, Leppänen PH. 2013. Basic auditory processing deficits in dyslexia: systematic review of the behavioral and event-related potential/field evidence. *J. Learn. Disabil.* 46:413–27
- Hancock R, Pugh KR, Hoeft F. 2017. Neural noise hypothesis of developmental dyslexia. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 21:434–48
- Hari R, Renvall H. 2001. Impaired processing of rapid stimulus sequences in dyslexia. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 5:525–32
- Harrar V, Tammam J, Pérez-Bellido A, Pitt A, Stein J, Spence C. 2014. Multisensory integration and attention in developmental dyslexia. *Curr. Biol.* 24:531–35
- Hayes EA, Tiippana K, Nicol TG, Sams M, Kraus N. 2003. Integration of heard and seen speech: a factor in learning disabilities in children. *Neurosci. Lett.* 351:46–50
- Heinrichs DW, Buchanan RW. 1988. Significance and meaning of neurological signs in schizophrenia. Am. J. Psychiatry 145:11–18
- Hillock-Dunn A, Wallace MT. 2012. Developmental changes in the multisensory temporal binding window persist into adolescence. *Dev. Sci.* 15:688–96
- Huyse A, Berthommier F, Leybaert J. 2015. I don't see what you are saying: reduced visual influence on audiovisual speech integration in children with specific language impairment. *Phonology* 56:22–27
- Insel T, Cuthbert B, Garvey M, Heinssen R, Pine DS, et al. 2010. Research domain criteria (RDoC): toward a new classification framework for research on mental disorders. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 167:748–51

Fairly recent review on multisensory integration in persons with dyslexia.

- Irwin JR, Tornatore LA, Brancazio L, Whalen DH. 2011. Can children with autism spectrum disorders "hear" a speaking face? *Child Dev.* 82:1397–403
- Isaiah A, Vongpaisal T, King AJ, Hartley DE. 2014. Multisensory training improves auditory spatial processing following bilateral cochlear implantation. *J. Neurosci.* 34:11119–30
- Jahn KN, Stevenson RA, Wallace MT. 2017. Visual temporal acuity is related to auditory speech perception abilities in cochlear implant users. *Ear Hearing* 38:236–43
- Jaime M, Bahrick L, Lickliter R. 2010. The critical role of temporal synchrony in the salience of intersensory redundancy during prenatal development. *Infancy* 15:61–82
- Jardri R, Pouchet A, Pins D, Thomas P. 2011. Cortical activations during auditory verbal hallucinations in schizophrenia: a coordinate-based meta-analysis. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 168:73–81
- Javitt DC. 2009. Sensory processing in schizophrenia: neither simple nor intact. Schizophr. Bull. 35:1059-64
- Jordan KE, Suanda SH, Brannon EM. 2008. Intersensory redundancy accelerates preverbal numerical competence. Cognition 108:210–21
- Kaganovich N, Schumaker J, Leonard LB, Gustafson D, Macias D. 2014. Children with a history of SLI show reduced sensitivity to audiovisual temporal asynchrony: an ERP study. J. Speech Lang. Hear. Res. 57:1480–502
- Kanner L. 1943. Autistic disturbances of affective contact. Nerv. Child 2:217-50
- Karipidis II, Pleisch G, Brandeis D, Roth A, Röthlisberger M, et al. 2018. Simulating reading acquisition: the link between reading outcome and multimodal brain signatures of letter–speech sound learning in prereaders. Sci. Rep. 8:7121
- Keane BP, Rosenthal O, Chun NH, Shams L. 2010. Audiovisual integration in high functioning adults with autism. *Res. Autism Spectrum Disord.* 4:276–89
- Kéïta L, Mottron L, Dawson M, Bertone A. 2011. Atypical lateral connectivity: a neural basis for altered visuospatial processing in autism. *Biol. Psychiatry* 70:806–11
- Kenny L, Hattersley C, Molins B, Buckley C, Povey C, Pellicano E. 2015. Which terms should be used to describe autism? Perspectives from the UK autism community. *Autism* 20(4):442–62
- Kim J-J, Crespo-Facorro B, Andreasen NC, O'Leary DS, Magnotta V, Nopoulos P. 2003. Morphology of the lateral superior temporal gyrus in neuroleptic naiïve patients with schizophrenia: relationship to symptoms. Schizophr: Res. 60:173–81
- Kral A, Dorman MF, Wilson BS. 2019. Neuronal development of hearing and language: cochlear implants and critical periods. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 42:47–65
- Lakatos P, Chen C-M, O'Connell MN, Mills A, Schroeder CE. 2007. Neuronal oscillations and multisensory interaction in primary auditory cortex. *Neuron* 53:279–92
- Laurienti PJ, Burdette JH, Maldjian JA, Wallace MT. 2006. Enhanced multisensory integration in older adults. *Neurobiol. Aging* 27:1155–63
- Le Couteur A, Rutter M, Lord C, Rios P, Robertson S, et al. 1989. Autism diagnostic interview: a standardized investigator-based instrument. *J. Autism Dev. Disord.* 19:363–87
- Lewkowicz DJ. 1996. Perception of auditory–visual temporal synchrony in human infants. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 22:1094
- Lewkowicz DJ. 2004. Perception of serial order in infants. Dev. Sci. 7:175-84
- Lewkowicz DJ, Hansen-Tift AM. 2012. Infants deploy selective attention to the mouth of a talking face when learning speech. *PNAS* 109:1431–36
- Lickliter R, Bahrick LE, Honeycutt H. 2002. Intersensory redundancy facilitates prenatal perceptual learning in bobwhite quail (*Colinus virginianus*) embryos. *Dev. Psychol.* 38:15–23
- Lickliter R, Bahrick LE, Honeycutt H. 2004. Intersensory redundancy enhances memory in bobwhite quail embryos. *Infancy* 5:253–69
- Lickliter R, Bahrick LE, Markham RG. 2006. Intersensory redundancy educates selective attention in bobwhite quail embryos. *Dev. Sci.* 9:604–15
- Lickliter R, Banker H. 1994. Prenatal components of intersensory development in precocial birds. In The Development of Intersensory Perception: Comparative Perspectives, ed. DJ Lewkowicz, R Lickliter, pp. 59–80. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Assoc.

Seminal article on one of the most commonly used paradigms of multisensory integration for audiovisual speech.

Seminal article identifying principles of multisensory integration in the cat model.

Article reviewing research and theory regarding the nature of multisensory development across the life span.

- Lin FR, Yaffe K, Xia J, Xue Q-L, Harris TB, et al. 2013. Hearing loss and cognitive decline in older adults. *JAMA Intern. Med.* 173:293–99
- Loughrey DG, Kelly ME, Kelley GA, Brennan S, Lawlor BA. 2018. Association of age-related hearing loss with cognitive function, cognitive impairment, and dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA* Otolaryngology Head Neck Surg. 144:115–26
- Lungarella M, Metta G, Pfeifer R, Sandini G. 2003. Developmental robotics: a survey. *Connect. Sci.* 15:151–90
- Manis FR, Savage PL, Morrison FJ, Horn CC, Howell MJ, et al. 1987. Paired associate learning in readingdisabled children: evidence for a rule-learning deficiency. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 43:25–43
- Massaro D. 1998. Perceiving Talking Faces: From Speech Perception to a Behavioral Principle. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press
- Matson JL, ed. 2015. Comorbid Conditions Among Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders. Heidelberg, Ger.: Springer
- McGurk H, MacDonald J. 1976. Hearing lips and seeing voices. Nature 264:746-48
- Meredith MA, Stein BE. 1986. Visual, auditory, and somatosensory convergence on cells in superior colliculus results in multisensory integration. *7. Neurophysiol.* 56:640–62
- Metta G, Fitzpatrick P. 2003. Early integration of vision and manipulation. Adaptive Behav. 11:109-28
- Minshew NJ, Sung K, Jones BL, Furman JM. 2004. Underdevelopment of the postural control system in autism. *Neurology* 63:2056–61
- Mittag M, Thesleff P, Laasonen M, Kujala T. 2013. The neurophysiological basis of the integration of written and heard syllables in dyslexic adults. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 124:315–26
- Mon-Williams MA, Wann JP, Pascal E. 1999. Visual–proprioceptive mapping in children with developmental coordination disorder. Dev. Med. Child Neurol. 41:247–54
- Morgan W. 1896. A case of congenital word blindness. Br. Med. J. 2:1378
- Murray MM, Lewkowicz DJ, Amedi A, Wallace MT. 2016. Multisensory processes: a balancing act across the lifespan. *Trends Neurosci.* 39:567–79
- Murray MM, Wallace MT. 2011. The Neural Bases of Multisensory Processes. Boca Raton, FL: CRC
- Nidiffer AR, Stevenson RA, Fister JK, Barnett ZP, Wallace MT. 2016. Interactions between space and effectiveness in human multisensory performance. *Neuropsychologia* 88:83–91
- Norrix LW, Plante E, Vance R. 2006. Auditory–visual speech integration by adults with and without languagelearning disabilities. J. Commun. Disord. 39:22–36
- Norrix LW, Plante E, Vance R, Boliek CA. 2007. Auditory-visual integration for speech by children with and without specific language impairment. J. Speech Lang. Hear. Res. 50:1639–51
- Palmer CJ, Paton B, Hohwy J, Enticott PG. 2013. Movement under uncertainty: the effects of the rubber-hand illusion vary along the nonclinical autism spectrum. *Neuropsychologia* 51:1942–51
- Patten E, Watson LR, Baranek GT. 2014. Temporal synchrony detection and associations with language in young children with ASD. *Autism Res. Treat.* 2014:678346
- Patterson ML, Werker JF. 2003. Two-month-old infants match phonetic information in lips and voice. *Dev. Sci.* 6:191–96
- Pearl D, Yodashkin-Porat D, Katz N, Valevski A, Aizenberg D, et al. 2009. Differences in audiovisual integration, as measured by McGurk phenomenon, among adult and adolescent patients with schizophrenia and age-matched healthy control groups. *Compr. Psychiatry* 50:186–92
- Peiffer AM, Mozolic JL, Hugenschmidt CE, Laurienti PJ. 2007. Age-related multisensory enhancement in a simple audiovisual detection task. *Neuroreport* 18:1077–81
- Pelham WE, Ross AO. 1977. Selective attention in children with reading problems: a developmental study of incidental learning. J. Abnorm. Child Psychol. 5:1–8
- Pons F, Andreu L, Sanz-Torrent M, Buil-Legaz L, Lewkowicz DJ. 2013. Perception of audio-visual speech synchrony in Spanish-speaking children with and without specific language impairment. *J. Child Lang.* 40:687–700
- Pons F, Sanz-Torrent M, Ferinu L, Birulés J, Andreu L. 2018. Children with SLI can exhibit reduced attention to a talker's mouth. *Lang. Learn.* 68:180–92

- Postmes L, Sno H, Goedhart S, Van Der Stel J, Heering H, De Haan L. 2014. Schizophrenia as a self-disorder due to perceptual incoherence. *Schizophr. Res.* 152:41–50
- Powers AR, Hevey MA, Wallace MT. 2012. Neural correlates of multisensory perceptual learning. J. Neurosci. 32:6263–74
- Powers AR, Hillock AR, Wallace MT. 2009. Perceptual training narrows the temporal window of multisensory binding. J. Neurosci. 29:12265–74
- Ramkhalawansingh R, Keshavarz B, Haycock B, Shahab S, Campos JL. 2017. Examining the effect of age on visual-vestibular self-motion perception using a driving paradigm. *Perception* 46:566–85
- Reilly C. 2009. Autism spectrum disorders in Down syndrome: a review. Res. Autism Spectr. Disord. 3:829-39
- Renier L, De Volder AG, Rauschecker JP. 2014. Cortical plasticity and preserved function in early blindness. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 41:53–63
- Righi G, Tenenbaum EJ, McCormick C, Blossom M, Amso D, Sheinkopf SJ. 2018. Sensitivity to audio-visual synchrony and its relation to language abilities in children with and without ASD. *Autism Res.* 11:645–53
- Rohe T, Noppeney U. 2018. Reliability-weighted integration of audiovisual signals can be modulated by topdown attention. *eNeuro* 5:ENEURO.0315-17.2018
- Ross LA, Molholm S, Blanco D, Gomez-Ramirez M, Saint-Amour D, Foxe JJ. 2011. The development of multisensory speech perception continues into the late childhood years. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 33:2329–37
- Ross LA, Saint-Amour D, Leavitt VM, Molholm S, Javitt DC, Foxe JJ. 2007. Impaired multisensory processing in schizophrenia: deficits in the visual enhancement of speech comprehension under noisy environmental conditions. *Schizophr. Res.* 97:173–83
- Rouger J, Lagleyre S, Fraysse B, Deneve S, Deguine O, Barone P. 2007. Evidence that cochlear-implanted deaf patients are better multisensory integrators. PNAS 104:7295–300
- Royal DW, Carriere BN, Wallace MT. 2009. Spatiotemporal architecture of cortical receptive fields and its impact on multisensory interactions. *Exp. Brain Res.* 198:127–36
- Rüsseler J, Ye Z, Gerth I, Szycik GR, Münte TF. 2018. Audio-visual speech perception in adult readers with dyslexia: an fMRI study. *Brain Imaging Behav.* 12:357–68
- Russo N, Foxe JJ, Brandwein AB, Altschuler T, Gomes H, Molholm S. 2010. Multisensory processing in children with autism: high-density electrical mapping of auditory-somatosensory integration. *Autism Res.* 3:253–67
- Salthouse TA. 1996. The processing-speed theory of adult age differences in cognition. *Psychol. Rev.* 103:403–28
- Sánchez A, Millán-Calenti JC, Lorenzo-López L, Maseda A. 2013. Multisensory stimulation for people with dementia: a review of the literature. *Am. J. Alzheimer's Dis. Other Dementias* 28:7–14
- Sandmann P, Dillier N, Eichele T, Meyer M, Kegel A, et al. 2012. Visual activation of auditory cortex reflects maladaptive plasticity in cochlear implant users. *Brain* 135:555–68
- Schoemaker M, van der Wees M, Flapper B, Verheij-Jansen N, Scholten-Jaegers S, Geuze RH. 2001. Perceptual skills of children with developmental coordination disorder. *Hum. Mov. Sci.* 20:111–33
- Schroeder CE, Lakatos P, Kajikawa Y, Partan S, Puce A. 2008. Neuronal oscillations and visual amplification of speech. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 12:106–13
- Setti A, Burke KE, Kenny RA, Newell FN. 2011. Is inefficient multisensory processing associated with falls in older people? *Exp. Brain Res.* 209:375–84
- Setti A, Burke KE, Kenny RA, Newell FN. 2013. Susceptibility to a multisensory speech illusion in older persons is driven by perceptual processes. *Front. Psychol.* 4:575
- Shams L, Kamitani Y, Shimojo S. 2000. Illusions: What you see is what you hear. Nature 408:788
- Sharma A, Glick H. 2016. Cross-modal re-organization in clinical populations with hearing loss. Brain Sci. 6:4
- Siemann JK, Muller CL, Bamberger G, Allison JD, Veenstra-VanderWeele J, Wallace MT. 2015. A novel behavioral paradigm to assess multisensory processing in mice. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 8:456
- Siemann JK, Muller CL, Forsberg CG, Blakely RD, Veenstra-VanderWeele J, Wallace MT. 2017. An autismassociated serotonin transporter variant disrupts multisensory processing. *Translational Psychiatry* 7:e1067
- Simon DM, Wallace MT. 2016. Dysfunction of sensory oscillations in autism spectrum disorder. *Neurosci. Biobebav. Rev.* 68:848–61

- Sinclair J. 1999. Why I dislike "person-first" language. *Autism Mythbusters*. https://autismmythbusters. com/general-public/autistic-vs-people-with-autism/jim-sinclair-why-i-dislike-person-first-language/
- Spencer KM, Nestor PG, Perlmutter R, Niznikiewicz MA, Klump MC, et al. 2004. Neural synchrony indexes disordered perception and cognition in schizophrenia. *PNAS* 101:17288–93

Stein BE, Meredith MA. 1993. The Merging of the Senses. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press

- Stekelenburg JJ, Maes JP, Van Gool AR, Sitskoorn M, Vroomen J. 2013. Deficient multisensory integration in schizophrenia: an event-related potential study. *Schizophr. Res.* 147:253–61
- Stevenson RA, Baum SH, Krueger J, Newhouse PA, Wallace MT. 2018a. Links between temporal acuity and multisensory integration across life span. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 44:106–16

Stevenson RA, Baum SH, Segers M, Ferber S, Barense MD, Wallace MT. 2017a. Multisensory speech perception in autism spectrum disorder: from phoneme to whole-word perception. Autism Res. 10:1280–90

Stevenson RA, Nelms CE, Baum SH, Zurkovsky L, Barense MD, et al. 2015. Deficits in audiovisual speech perception in normal aging emerge at the level of whole-word recognition. *Neurobiol. Aging* 36:283–91

Stevenson RA, Park S, Cochran C, McIntosh LG, Noel J-P, et al. 2017b. The associations between multisensory temporal processing and symptoms of schizophrenia. Schizophr. Res. 179:97–103

- Stevenson RA, Segers M, Ferber S, Barense MD, Camarata S, Wallace MT. 2016. Keeping time in the brain: autism spectrum disorder and audiovisual temporal processing. *Autism Res.* 9:720–38
- Stevenson RA, Segers M, Ncube BL, Black KR, Bebko JM, et al. 2018b. The cascading influence of multisensory processing on speech perception in autism. *Autism* 22:609–24
- Stevenson RA, Sheffield SW, Butera IM, Gifford RH, Wallace MT. 2017c. Multisensory integration in cochlear implant recipients. *Ear Hear*. 38:521–38

Stevenson RA, Siemann JK, Woynaroski TG, Schneider BC, Eberly HE, et al. 2014a. Brief report: arrested development of audiovisual speech perception in autism spectrum disorders. *J. Autism Dev. Disord.* 44:1470– 77

Stevenson RA, Siemann JK, Woynaroski TG, Schneider BC, Eberly HE, et al. 2014b. Evidence for diminished multisensory integration in autism spectrum disorders. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 44:3161–67

Stevenson RA, Zemtsov RK, Wallace MT. 2012. Individual differences in the multisensory temporal binding window predict susceptibility to audiovisual illusions. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 38:1517–29

- Stewart ME, Ota M. 2008. Lexical effects on speech perception in individuals with "autistic" traits. Cognition 109:157–62
- Strelnikov K, Rouger J, Lagleyre S, Fraysse B, Démonet JF, et al. 2015. Increased audiovisual integration in cochlear-implanted deaf patients: independent components analysis of longitudinal positron emission tomography data. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 41:677–85
- Striem-Amit E, Cohen L, Dehaene S, Amedi A. 2012. Reading with sounds: sensory substitution selectively activates the visual word form area in the blind. *Neuron* 76:640–52
- Sumby WH, Pollack I. 1954. Visual contribution to speech intelligibility in noise. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 26:212–15
- Surguladze SA, Calvert GA, Brammer MJ, Campbell R, Bullmore ET, et al. 2001. Audio–visual speech perception in schizophrenia: an fMRI study. *Psychiatry Res. Neuroimaging* 106:1–14
- Szycik GR, Münte TF, Dillo W, Mohammadi B, Samii A, et al. 2009. Audiovisual integration of speech is disturbed in schizophrenia: an fMRI study. Schizophr. Res. 110:111–18
- Targher S, Micciolo R, Occelli V, Zampini M. 2017. The role of temporal disparity on audiovisual integration in low-vision individuals. *Perception* 46:1356–70
- Targher S, Occelli V, Zampini M. 2012. Audiovisual integration in low vision individuals. Neuropsychologia 50:576–82
- Taylor N, Isaac C, Milne E. 2010. A comparison of the development of audiovisual integration in children with autism spectrum disorders and typically developing children. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 40:1403–11
- Teinonen T, Aslin RN, Alku P, Csibra G. 2008. Visual speech contributes to phonetic learning in 6-month-old infants. Cognition 108:850–55
- Ten Oever S, Sack AT, Wheat KL, Bien N, Van Atteveldt N. 2013. Audio-visual onset differences are used to determine syllable identity for ambiguous audio-visual stimulus pairs. *Front. Psychol.* 4:331

Seminal reference on the nature of multisensory integration.

- Tenenbaum EJ, Sobel DM, Sheinkopf SJ, Shah RJ, Malle BF, Morgan JL. 2015. Attention to the mouth and gaze following in infancy predict language development. J. Child Lang. 42:1173–90
- Thompson E. 2005. Sensorimotor subjectivity and the enactive approach to experience. *Phenomenol. Cogn. Sci.* 4:407–27
- Torres-Jara E, Natale L, Fitzpatrick P. 2005. Tapping into touch. In Proceedings of the Fifth International Workshop on Epigenetic Robotics: Modeling Cognitive Development in Robotic Systems, ed. L Berthouze, pp. 79–86. Lund, Swed.: LUCS
- Tye-Murray N, Sommers M, Spehar B, Myerson J, Hale S. 2010. Aging, audiovisual integration, and the principle of inverse effectiveness. *Ear Hear*. 31:636–44
- Tye-Murray N, Spehar B, Myerson J, Hale S, Sommers M. 2016. Lipreading and audiovisual speech recognition across the adult lifespan: implications for audiovisual integration. *Psychol. Aging* 31:380–89
- Uhlhaas PJ, Singer W. 2010. Abnormal neural oscillations and synchrony in schizophrenia. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 11:100–13
- Ujiie Y, Asai T, Wakabayashi A. 2015. The relationship between level of autistic traits and local bias in the context of the McGurk effect. *Front. Psychol.* 6:891
- van der Smagt MJ, van Engeland H, Kemner C. 2007. Brief report: Can you see what is not there? Low-level auditory-visual integration in autism spectrum disorder. *J. Autism Dev. Disord.* 37:2014–19
- van Laarhoven T, Keetels M, Schakel L, Vroomen J. 2018. Audio-visual speech in noise perception in dyslexia. Dev. Sci. 21:e12504
- Varela F, Thompson E, Rosch E. 1991. *The Embodied Mind: Cognitive Science and Human Experience*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press
- Visser J. 2003. Developmental coordination disorder: a review of research on subtypes and comorbidities. *Hum. Mov. Sci.* 22:479–93
- Vroomen J, Keetels M. 2010. Perception of intersensory synchrony: a tutorial review. Atten. Percept. Psychophys. 72:871–84
- Wagner RK. 1986. Phonological processing abilities and reading: implications for disabled readers. J. Learn. Disabil. 19:623–29
- Wallace MT, Stein BE. 1997. Development of multisensory neurons and multisensory integration in cat superior colliculus. J. Neurosci. 17:2429–44
- Wallace MT, Stein BE. 2001. Sensory and multisensory responses in the newborn monkey superior colliculus. J. Neurosci. 21:8886–94
- Wallace MT, Stevenson RA. 2014. The construct of the multisensory temporal binding window and its dysregulation in developmental disabilities. *Neuropsychologia* 64:105–23
- Wang D, Xin J. 2018. Emergent spatio-temporal multimodal learning using a developmental network. Appl. Intell. 49:1306–23
- Williams LE, Light GA, Braff DL, Ramachandran VS. 2010. Reduced multisensory integration in patients with schizophrenia on a target detection task. *Neuropsychologia* 48:3128–36

Wu J, Yang J, Yu Y, Li Q, Nakamura N, et al. 2012. Delayed audiovisual integration of patients with mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease compared with normal aged controls. *J. Alzheimer's Dis.* 32:317–28

- Yaguchi A, Hidaka S. 2018. Distinct autistic traits are differentially associated with the width of the multisensory temporal binding window. *Multisensory Res.* 31:523–36
- Yu AC, Grove J, Martinovic M, Sonderegger M. 2011. Effects of working memory capacity and "autistic" traits on phonotactic effects in speech perception. In *Proceedings of the 17th International Congress of Phonetic Sciences (ICPbS XVII): August 17–21, 2011*, pp. 2236–39. Hong Kong: City Univ. Hong Kong
- Zhang J, Meng Y, He J, Xiang Y, Wu C, et al. 2019. McGurk effect by individuals with autism spectrum disorder and typically developing controls: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *7. Autism Dev. Disord.* 49:34–43
- Zhang Y, Weng J. 2010. Spatio-temporal multimodal developmental learning. *IEEE Trans. Autonomous Ment.* Dev. 2:149–66
- Ziegler JC, Pech-Georgel C, George F, Lorenzi C. 2009. Speech-perception-in-noise deficits in dyslexia. *Dev. Sci.* 12:732–45
- Zurif E, Carson G. 1970. Dyslexia in relation to cerebral dominance and temporal analysis. *Neuropsychologia* 8:351–61

Fairly recent review of findings for multisensory temporal processing in individuals with developmental disabilities.